**J**HEP

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 23, 2011 ACCEPTED: April 19, 2011 PUBLISHED: May 2, 2011

# Holographic entanglement entropy: near horizon geometry and disconnected regions

## Erik Tonni

Center for Theoretical Physics, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA 02139, U.S.A.

*E-mail:* tonni@mit.edu

ABSTRACT: We study the finite term of the holographic entanglement entropy for the charged black hole in  $AdS_{d+2}$  and other examples of black holes when the spatial region in the boundary theory is given by one or two parallel strips. For one large strip it scales like the width of the strip. The divergent term of its expansion as the turning point of the minimal surface approaches the horizon is determined by the near horizon geometry. Examples involving a Lifshitz scaling are also considered. For two equal strips in the boundary we study the transition of the mutual information given by the holographic prescription. In the case of the charged black hole, when the width of the strips becomes large this transition provides a characteristic finite distance depending on the temperature.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Black Holes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1011.0166

## Contents

| Holographic entanglement entropy for black holes | 3   |
|--|---|
| 1.1 A more general ansatz                        | 7   |
| Expansion of the finite term near the horizon    | 8   |
| 2.1 Charged black hole                           | 9   |
| 2.2 Warped black hole                            | 11  |
| 2.3 Perturbed Lifshitz background                | 12  |
| A Lifshitz black hole in four dimensions         | 14  |
| Two disconnected strips                          | 15  |
| 4.1 $AdS_{d+2}$                                  | 16  |
| 4.2 Charged black holes                          | 17  |
| Conclusions                                      | 19  |
| $AdS_{d+2}$                                      | 21  |
| Charged black holes in $AdS_{d+2}$               | 22  |
| Disk geometry                                    | 24  |
| An alternative splitting of the finite term      | 25  |
|  | Holographic entanglement entropy for black holes1.1 A more general ansatzExpansion of the finite term near the horizon2.1 Charged black hole2.2 Warped black hole2.3 Perturbed Lifshitz backgroundA Lifshitz black hole in four dimensionsTwo disconnected strips4.1 $AdS_{d+2}$ 4.2 Charged black holesConclusions $AdS_{d+2}$ Charged black holes in $AdS_{d+2}$ Disk geometryAn alternative splitting of the finite term |

## Introduction

Entanglement entropy is an important quantity which has been studied in many models of condensed matter systems, quantum information and quantum gravity. It measures the quantum correlations in a bipartite decomposition of a quantum system.

Let us consider a system whose total Hilbert space can be written as a direct product  $H = H_A \otimes H_B$ . Denoting by  $\rho$  the density matrix characterizing the state of the system, the reduced density matrix associated to A is obtained by tracing  $\rho$  over the degrees of freedom of B, i.e.  $\rho_A = \text{Tr}_B \rho$ . Then, the entanglement entropy is defined as the corresponding Von Neumann entropy, namely  $S_A = -\text{Tr}_A(\rho_A \log \rho_A)$ . When the system is in a pure state, we have  $\rho = |\Psi\rangle\langle\Psi|$  and  $S_A = S_B$ . A very interesting situation occurs when A and B correspond to a spatial bipartition of the system. In this case the entanglement entropy is called geometric entropy. Here we consider this quantity and we will always refer to it as the entanglement entropy. Its interesting feature is that is satisfies the so called area law: the leading term in the expansion for small UV cutoff a is proportional to the area of the

boundary separating A and B. In d spatial dimensions we have  $S_A \propto \operatorname{Area}(\partial A)/a^{d-1} + \dots$ , where the dots represent higher order terms in a [1]. This area law is violated in two dimensional conformal field theories, where a logarithmic behavior has been found for one interval. In particular  $S_A = (c/3) \log(\ell/a)$  where  $\ell$  is the length of the interval and c is the central charge of the theory. The method employed to get the analytic result for  $S_A$  is the replica trick, which means first to compute  $\operatorname{Tr} \rho_A^n$  for integer n and then to perform an analytic continuation to real values of n in order to take  $S_A = -\partial_n \operatorname{Tr} \rho_A^n|_{n=1}$  [2–4] (see [5] for a recent review).

For quantum field theories with a holographic dual, the problem of computing the entanglement entropy through a bulk description has been addressed in [6, 7]. The holographic prescription to obtain  $S_A$  associated to a region A in the d+1 dimensional boundary theory is the following. On a fixed time slice (see [8] for a generalization to time dependent backgrounds), among all the d dimensional surfaces extended in the bulk whose boundary coincides with the boundary of A, we have to consider the one having minimal area. Denoting this minimal surface by  $\gamma_A$ , the holographic entanglement entropy is given by  $S_A = \text{Area}(\gamma_A)/(4G_N^{(d+2)})$ , where  $G_N^{(d+2)}$  is the Newton constant of the d + 2 dimensional theory in the bulk (see [9] for a derivation from AdS/CFT rules). Besides recovering the area law, this prescription passed many tests (e.g. the strong subadditivity inequalities) and it has been deeply studied (see the recent review [10] and the references therein); thus it is considered a key tool to understand the essential features of the entanglement entropy for quantum field theories with a holographic dual.

The entanglement entropy is not an extensive quantity, as can be easily understood e.g. by the fact that  $S_A = S_B$  for a pure state (this equality is violated at finite temperature). In the holographic computation of the entanglement entropy extensivity is recovered if one considers the finite term of the minimal area (sometimes called renormalized entanglement entropy), i.e. the one obtained by subtracting the UV divergent term giving the area law, in a black hole background [7, 11–13]. This behavior is due to the fact that, as the size of the region A in the boundary tends to infinity, a large part of the minimal surface gets very close to the horizon and this part goes like the volume of A in the large size limit. Thus the near horizon geometry is responsible of the leading divergence of the finite term of the minimal area as the turning point of the minimal surface approaches the horizon.

A second important aspect of the entanglement entropy we are interested in concerns the case of a spatial region A in the boundary made by two disjoint regions, i.e.  $A = A_1 \cup A_2$  with  $A_1 \cap A_2 = \emptyset$ . In this case the natural quantity to consider is the mutual information  $M_A \equiv S_{A_1} + S_{A_2} - S_{A_1 \cup A_2}$  because it is UV finite. For some spin chains and two dimensional conformal field theories interesting results have been obtained [14–22]. The models considered in these papers have small central charges (order of the unity). The two intervals case is interesting because it encodes all the data of the conformal field theory (central charge, conformal dimensions and correlation functions) [16, 17], while the entanglement entropy of the single interval contains only the central charge [3, 4].

In the context of the holographic correspondence, the case of disjoint regions has been addressed in [6, 7, 23–26]. An interesting feature of the holographic entanglement entropy is the transition of the mutual information from zero value to a positive value (the mutual information cannot be negative, as a consequence a strong subadditivity inequality) [23,

26]. This transition should be a large c effect, which is the regime where the holographic prescription works, since there no signal of it e.g. for the compactified boson [15, 16], which has c = 1.

In this paper we consider the holographic entanglement entropy for one or two strips in the boundary theory in presence of various types of black holes with non compact horizon in the bulk. For one strip, we focus on the divergence of the finite term when the strip becomes large and therefore the turning point of the minimal surface approaches the horizon. The degree of this divergence depends on the near horizon geometry, but the finite term scales like the width (and thus like the volume) of the strip for all the black holes we consider. This scaling is broken for the Lifshitz type backgrounds whose dynamical exponent occurs in the spatial part of the metric.

For two parallel strips of equal width we mainly consider the transition of the mutual information in terms of the geometrical parameters, namely the width of the strips and the distance between them. For the charged black hole in four dimensions with fixed charge, we find that the transition of the mutual information leads to a characteristic finite distance between the strips as they become large. This distance depends on the temperature and it could be interpreted as a signal of the occurrence of a finite correlation length in the boundary theory.

The paper is organized as follows. In the section 1 we review the holographic prescription for the entanglement entropy, specializing the analysis to ansatz that contain the black hole metrics we consider in the rest of the paper. In the section 2 we study the finite term of the holographic entanglement entropy for the charged black hole, the warped black hole of [27] and the perturbed Lifshitz background considered in [28] as a solution of the Abelian Higgs model [29]. In the section 3 we study the Lifshitz black hole of [30] computing the analytic expression of the holographic entanglement entropy to all orders in the UV cutoff. This allows us to extract the finite term and to test the method employed for the other black holes. In the section 4 we consider two equal and parallel strips in the boundary and study the transition of the mutual information for  $AdS_{d+2}$  and for the charged black hole.

## 1 Holographic entanglement entropy for black holes

In this section we review the holographic prescription to compute the entanglement entropy [6, 7], defining the integrals we need in order to study the black holes that we will consider in the remaining sections. In the appendix A we review the results for  $AdS_{d+2}$ , that will be also employed in the section 4.

Given a quantum field theory living on the boundary  $\mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}^d$  of an asymptotically  $AdS_{d+2}$  space, we take a d dimensional region A strictly included in the constant time slice of the boundary. Let us take a d-dimensional surface  $\gamma$  embedded in the constant time slice of  $AdS_{d+2}$  defined by  $z = z(\vec{x})$ , being z is the holographic coordinate and  $\vec{x} \in \mathbb{R}^d$  a vector of the constant time section of the boundary. The area of  $\gamma$  reads

$$\operatorname{Area}(\gamma) = \int dx_1 \dots dx_d \sqrt{\det(h_{ij})}$$
(1.1)

where  $h_{ij}$  is the induced metric on the surface  $ds_{ind}^2 = h_{ij}dx^i dx^j$ . Among all these surfaces, we restrict our attention to the ones whose boundary coincides with the boundary of the region A. Within this smaller subset of surfaces, we denote by  $\gamma_A$  the one having minimal area.

The proposal of Ryu and Takayanagi [6, 7] is that we can holographically compute the entanglement entropy in the boundary theory through a computation in the bulk. In particular

$$S_A = \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\gamma_A)}{4G_N^{(d+2)}} \tag{1.2}$$

where  $G_N^{(d+2)}$  is the Newton constant in d+2 spacetime dimensions.

Depending on the shape of  $\partial A$ , one decides if it is more convenient to work either in cartesian  $(d\vec{x}^2 = \sum_{i=1}^d (dx^i)^2)$  or polar coordinates  $(d\vec{x}^2 = d\rho^2 + \rho^2 d\Omega_{d-1}^2)$ , being  $d\Omega_{d-1}^2$  the metric of the d-1 dimensional unit sphere) of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Since we will mostly consider A to be a finite strip or a disjoint union of two of them, we will adopt the cartesian coordinates for  $\mathbb{R}^d$  (for an example where the polar coordinates system is employed, see the appendix C, which contains a discussion on the circular case in the black hole background considered below).

For many known black holes which are asymptotically  $AdS_{d+2}$ , the metric on the fixed time slice is given by

$$ds_0^2 \equiv ds^2 \big|_{t=\text{const}} = R^2 \left( \frac{d\vec{x}^2}{z^2} + \frac{dz^2}{z^2 f(z)} \right)$$
(1.3)

where R is the radius of  $AdS_{d+2}$  realized closed to the boundary. In this system of coordinates the boundary is the z = 0 slice and the horizon is characterized by the smallest zero of the emblacking function f(z).

Let us consider the region A in the boundary given by a strip with length L along one direction, that we call x, and  $L_{\perp}$  along the other orthogonal ones. Choosing the origin in the center of this strip, the symmetry of the problem allows us to restrict to surfaces described by the even function z = z(x). Then, the area functional that we have to minimize to compute the holographic entanglement entropy reads

Area
$$(\gamma_A) = 2R^d L_{\perp}^{d-1} \int_0^{\frac{L}{2}} dx \, \frac{1}{z^d} \sqrt{1 + \frac{(z')^2}{f(z)}} \,.$$
 (1.4)

Considering as a Lagrangian density  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}[z(x)]$  the integrand in (1.4), one notices that it does not depend explicitly on x. This is the main simplification that makes the case of a rectangular region A easier to solve than the case of a circular region. Indeed, the independence of  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}$  on x leads to the conserved quantity  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{strip}} \equiv p_z z' - \mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}$ , where  $p_z \equiv \partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}/\partial z'$ . In particular, one gets  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{strip}} = z^{-d}[1 + (z')^2/f(z)]^{-1/2}$ . By introducing  $z_{\text{max}}^{2d} \equiv 1/\mathcal{H}_{\text{strip}}^2$ , the constancy of  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{strip}}$  reads

$$z' = -\sqrt{f(z)} \, \frac{\sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - z^{2d}}}{z^d} \tag{1.5}$$

where we have used that z' < 0. This equation tells us that  $z_{\text{max}}$  is the turning point, namely z' = 0 when  $z = z_{\text{max}}$ . Notice that, from (1.5), also at the horizon  $z_0$  we could

have z' = 0 because  $f(z_0) = 0$ , but we never reach it because  $z_0 > z_{\max} \ge z(x) \ge 0$ . The equation (1.5) provides the profile of the minimal surface we are looking for and, by construction, it satisfies z(L/2) = 0 and  $z(0) = z_{\max}$ . As a check of (1.5), one can write the equation of motion coming from  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}$ 

$$\frac{z''z}{f(z)} + d\left[1 + \frac{(z')^2}{f(z)}\right] - \frac{(z')^2 z}{2f(z)^2} f'(z) = 0$$
(1.6)

and verify that the same equation can be found by deriving the conservation law  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{strip}} = \text{const w.r.t. } x$ . Then, separating the variables in (1.5), we find that the inverse function x(z) is

$$x(z) = \int_0^x d\tilde{x} = -\int_{z_{\text{max}}}^z \frac{w^d}{\sqrt{f(w)}\sqrt{z_{\text{max}}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} \, dw \,. \tag{1.7}$$

Imposing in (1.7) the relation x(0) = L/2, one gets that

$$\frac{L}{2} = \int_0^{z_{\max}} \frac{w^d}{\sqrt{f(w)}\sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} \, dw \tag{1.8}$$

which provides  $L = L(z_{\text{max}})$  and the correspondence between  $z_{\text{max}}$  and L.

As for the area of the minimal surface defined by (1.5), we can employ its definition to change integration variable in (1.4), which therefore becomes

Area
$$(\gamma_A) = 2R^d L_{\perp}^{d-1} \int_0^{z_{\max}} \frac{z_{\max}^d}{z^d \sqrt{f(z)} \sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - z^{2d}}} dz$$
 (1.9)

It is important to remark that, since  $f(z) \to 1$  as  $z \to 0$ , the integral in (1.9) diverges at z = 0. This leads us to put a UV cutoff  $z \ge a$  in the integration domain of (1.9). Thus, the integral we have to compute reads

Area
$$(\gamma_A) = 2R^d L_{\perp}^{d-1} \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{z_{\max}^d}{w^d \sqrt{f(w)} \sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} dw \equiv R^d L_{\perp}^{d-1} A_d(z_{\max}, a) .$$
 (1.10)

In order to isolate the divergence of (1.10) as  $a \to 0$ , we write the integral as follows

$$A_d(z_{\max}, a) = \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^d} \, dw + \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^d} \left( \frac{z_{\max}^d}{\sqrt{f(w)} \sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} - 1 \right) dw \quad (1.11)$$

$$\equiv \frac{2}{(d-1)a^{d-1}} + \mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, a) .$$
 (1.12)

The second integral in (1.11) is finite as  $a \to 0$  because we have either  $f(w) = 1 + O(w^{d+1})$ or  $f(w) = 1 + O(w^d)$  for  $w \to 0$  (see (2.3) and (3.1) respectively). In (1.12) we have introduced the finite term in the UV cutoff expansion

$$\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, a) \equiv \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^d} \left( \frac{z_{\max}^d}{\sqrt{f(w)} \sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} - 1 \right) dw - \frac{2}{(d-1)z_{\max}^{d-1}} \,. \tag{1.13}$$

In this paper we will be mainly interested O(1) term in the *a* expansion, which is  $\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0)$ . Once the proper factors given in (1.2) and (1.10) have been taken into account, the leading



Figure 1. Charged black hole, extremal case and  $z_0 = 1$ . Plot of the finite term  $\mathcal{A}_2(z_{\max}, 0)$  as function of  $z_{\max}$  (red curve). Close to the boundary (i.e. when  $z_{\max} \to 0$ ) it coincides with the curve corresponding to  $AdS_4$  (blue curve), which can be read from (A.8).

divergent term of the holographic entanglement entropy is proportional to the area of  $\partial A$  (area law), as expected [1]. The leading divergence is determined by the asymptotic form of the metric, which is  $AdS_{d+2}$ , thus it is meaningful to study the subleading terms in order to get informations about the IR regime of the boundary theory. Ambiguities in the choice of the UV cutoff affect the coefficient of the divergent term but they do not change the finite term we are interested in. We remark that in our case we have no divergent subleading terms (e.g.  $O(1/a^{d-3})$ ) because we choose for A a strip. As shown in [7], for a circular region such terms occur.

In the figure 1 the finite term (1.13) is shown for the charged black hole in  $AdS_4$  at zero temperature. As the turning point  $z_{\text{max}}$  approaches the horizon  $z_0$ , it develops a divergence we are going to study.

Equivalently, we can isolate the divergence for small a in the integral of (1.10) as follows

$$A_d(z_{\max}, a) = \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^d \sqrt{f(w)}} \, dw + \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^d \sqrt{f(w)}} \left(\frac{z_{\max}^d}{\sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d}} - w^{2d}} - 1\right) dw \quad (1.14)$$

$$\equiv \int_{a}^{z_{\text{max}}} \frac{2}{w^d \sqrt{f(w)}} \, dw + I_d(a, z_{\text{max}}) \,. \tag{1.15}$$

The finite term in the expansion for small a is now given by  $I_d(0, z_{\text{max}})$  plus a contribution from the first integral in (1.15). The distinction between (1.11) and (1.14) is obviously meaningless for  $AdS_{d+2}$ , where f(z) = 1 identically. The splitting (1.14) has been used in the appendix D to get some insights about the expansion of the finite term of the minimal area as a power series as  $z_0 - z_{\text{max}}$  and the possibility to approximate it through the near horizon geometry.

#### 1.1 A more general ansatz

In this section we consider a more complicated expression for the metric in order to include other kind of black holes in our discussion. Let us take a D + 1 dimensional spacetime and the following ansatz for the metric on the constant time slice

$$ds_0^2 = \left(\frac{dr^2}{A(r)^2} + B(r)^2 d\vec{x}^2\right) e^{-\frac{D-1-d}{d}\chi(r)} + R^2 e^{\chi(r)} \gamma_{ij}^{(c)}(r) d\theta^i \theta^j$$
(1.16)

where  $d\vec{x}^2$  gives the metric of  $\mathbb{R}^d$  and  $\gamma_{ij}^{(c)}(r)$  is the metric of a D - 1 - d dimensional compact manifold  $\mathcal{M}_c$ . The boundary is at large r and we assume the occurrence of a horizon at  $r = r_h$ .

Let us take a strip specified by the function  $r = r(x_d)$ . Then, the metric induced on it reads

$$ds_{\text{ind}}^{2} = \left( B(r)^{2} (dx_{1}^{2} + \dots dx_{d-1}^{2}) + \left[ \frac{(r')^{2}}{A(r)^{2}} + B(r)^{2} \right] dx_{d}^{2} \right) e^{-\frac{D-1-d}{d}\chi(r)} + R^{2} e^{\chi(r)} \gamma_{ij}^{(c)}(r) d\theta^{i} \theta^{j}.$$
(1.17)

To compute the area, we have to integrate  $\sqrt{\det(G_{\text{ind}})}$  over the strip A. In such determinant the dependence on  $\chi(r)$  simplifies and therefore it does not occur anymore. If  $\det(\gamma^{(c)})$ does not depend on r, then the area of the surface is given by

Area
$$(\gamma_A) = \left[ R^{D-1-d} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathcal{M}_c) \right] 2L_{\perp}^{d-1} \int_0^{L/2} B(r)^d \sqrt{1 + \frac{(r')^2}{A(r)^2 B(r)^2}} \, dx_d$$
(1.18)

where  $L_{\perp}$  is the width of the strip along the directions  $x_1, \ldots, x_{d-1}$  and Vol $(\mathcal{M}_c)$ .

As done above, we take as Lagrangian density  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}[r(x_d)]$  the integrand of (1.18) and compute the momentum  $p_r \equiv \partial \mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}} / \partial r'$ . Then, being  $\mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}$  independent of  $x_d$ , we can employ the conserved quantity  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{strip}} \equiv p_r r' - \mathcal{L}_{\text{strip}}$ . Since at the minimum value of r we have r'(0) = 0, we set  $\mathcal{H}_{\text{strip}}^2 \equiv B(r_{\min})^{2d}$ . This allows us to write (1.18) as follows

Area
$$(\gamma_A) = \left[ R^{D-1-d} \operatorname{Vol}(\mathcal{M}_c) \right] 2L_{\perp}^{d-1} \int_{r_{\min}}^{\infty} \frac{B(r)^{2d-1}}{A(r)\sqrt{B(r)^{2d} - B(r_{\min})^{2d}}} dr .$$
 (1.19)

It is also important to express  $L = L(r_{\min})$  and it reads

$$L = 2 \int_{r_{\min}}^{\infty} \frac{B(r_{\min})^d}{A(r)B(r)\sqrt{B(r)^{2d} - B(r_{\min})^{2d}}} dr .$$
(1.20)

We require to have  $AdS_{d+2}$  at large r, which means to impose

$$A(r)^{2} = \frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}} + O(1) \qquad B(r)^{2} = \frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}} + O(1) \qquad \chi(r) \to 0 \qquad r \to +\infty .$$
(1.21)

Because of this asymptotic behavior, the integral in (1.19) is divergent. Thus, one introduces the cut off  $\alpha$  at large r, obtaining for the regularized area

$$\frac{\operatorname{Area}(\gamma_A)}{R^{D-1-d}\operatorname{Vol}(\mathcal{M}_c)} = 2L_{\perp}^{d-1} \int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \frac{B(r)^{2d-1}}{A(r)\sqrt{B(r)^{2d} - B(r_{\min})^{2d}}} dr$$
(1.22)  
$$= \frac{2L_{\perp}^{d-1}}{(d-1)R^{d-2}} \left(\alpha^{d-1} - r_{\min}^{d-1}\right)$$
$$+ 2L_{\perp}^{d-1} \int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \left(\frac{B(r)^{2d-1}}{A(r)\sqrt{B(r)^{2d} - B(r_{\min})^{2d}}} - \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{d-2}\right) dr$$
(1.23)

where the integral in (1.23) is finite when  $\alpha \to \infty$ , once the asymptotic behavior (1.21) has been assumed. At this point, the finite term of area integral we are interested in is given by the sum of the integral and of the term proportional to  $r_{\min}^{d-1}$  in (1.23). We remark that (1.8) and (1.10) are special cases of (1.20) and (1.22) respectively. Indeed they are recovered by choosing

$$A(r) = \frac{r}{R}\sqrt{f(r)} \qquad \qquad B(r) = \frac{r}{R} \qquad (1.24)$$

and adopting the variable  $z \equiv R^2/r$ . The formula for the holographic entanglement entropy then gives

$$S_A = \frac{\operatorname{Area}(\gamma_A)}{4G_N^{(D+1)}} = \frac{2L_{\perp}^{d-1}}{4G_N^{(d+2)}} \int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \frac{B(r)^{2d-1}}{A(r)\sqrt{B(r)^{2d} - B(r_{\min})^{2d}}} dr$$
(1.25)

where we have used that  $G_N^{(D+1)} = G_N^{(d+2)}[R^{D-1-d}\operatorname{Vol}(\mathcal{M}_c)]$ . Notice that the compact part enters through Kaluza-Klein reduction in the Newton's constant also in this case where a warping factor occurs between the compact and the non compact part [12, 13].

## 2 Expansion of the finite term near the horizon

In this section we study the finite term of the holographic entanglement entropy introduced in the previous section. In particular, we consider the leading term of its expansion as the turning point of the minimal surface approaches the horizon, which means that the width Lof the strip in the boundary becomes large. As examples, we analyze the charged black hole in  $AdS_{d+2}$  (section 2.1), the warped black hole of [27] (section 2.2) and the perturbation of the Lifshitz background found in [28] within the context of the Abelian Higgs model of [29] (section 2.3).

The finite term in the expansion for small UV cutoff a is given by  $\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0)$ , defined in (1.13). In order to consider its expansion as the turning point  $z_{\max}$  of the minimal surface gets close to the horizon, we take

$$z_{\max} \equiv z_0 - \varepsilon \zeta_{\max} \qquad \varepsilon \to 0 \qquad \text{finite } \zeta_{\max} \qquad (2.1)$$

and change the integration variable in (1.13) according to this expansion, i.e. we set  $w = z_0 - \varepsilon \zeta$ , where  $0 < \zeta_{\text{max}} < \zeta$ . Then, the finite term can be written as follows

$$\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0) = \sum_{k \in B} \varepsilon^k \int_{\frac{z_0}{\varepsilon}}^{\zeta_{\max}} \mathcal{I}_k(\zeta, \zeta_{\max}) d\zeta - \frac{2}{(d-1)z_{\max}^{d-1}}$$
(2.2)

where  $B \subset [k_{\min}, \infty) \subset \mathbb{Q}$  is some discrete set of increasing rational numbers, which are not necessarily positive  $(k_{\min} < 0)$ . For instance, in the case of the charged black hole with d = 2 we have  $k \in \{-1/2, 1/2, 1, 3/2, ...\}$ . In order to write  $\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0)$  as an expansion in terms of powers of  $z_0 - z_{\max}$ , we have to compute the definite integrals occurring at each kand then expand each of them for small  $\varepsilon$ . Then this expansion can be written in powers of  $z_0 - z_{\max}$  by using the definition  $\varepsilon = (z_0 - z_{\max})/\zeta_{\max}$  from (2.1).

In all examples we have considered we find that this method provides only the divergent term as  $z_{\text{max}} \rightarrow z_0$ . This is due to the fact that all the integrals occurring in (2.2) give a contribution to the finite term of the expansion.

The same procedure just described to expand the integral  $\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0)$  can be applied to the integral (1.8) as well, obtaining L as an expansion in powers of  $z_0 - z_{\max}$ . It is then useful to compare the divergences of these two quantities as  $z_{\max} \rightarrow z_0$  in order to see how the finite term of the entanglement entropy scales with the width of the strip, and therefore with the volume.

#### 2.1 Charged black hole

In this section we apply the method just described to the charged black hole in  $AdS_{d+2}$  in its three different regimes of neutrality, extremality and non extremality. The metric and its properties are reviewed in the appendix B.

The metric of the charged black hole in  $AdS_{d+2}$  reads

$$\frac{ds^2}{R^2} = \frac{-fdt^2 + d\vec{x}^2}{z^2} + \frac{dz^2}{fz^2} \qquad f = 1 + Q^2 \left(\frac{z}{R^2}\right)^{2d} - M \left(\frac{z}{R^2}\right)^{d+1}$$
(2.3)

where M is the mass and Q is the charge of the black hole. The radial direction is parameterized by z and the boundary is at z = 0. The position  $z_0$  of the horizon is given by the smallest zero of the emblacking function f(z). Since the metric (2.3) falls into the class of metrics described by (1.3), we can employ the formulas discussed in the section 1.

Schwarzschild black hole. As a first example, we consider the Schwarzschild black hole, which is given by (2.3) with Q = 0. By performing the expansion described above, we find

$$L = -\frac{\sqrt{2}z_0}{\sqrt{d(d+1)}}\log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1)$$
(2.4)

and

$$\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0) = -\frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{d(d+1)} z_0^{d-1}} \log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1) = \frac{L}{z_0^d} + O(1)$$
(2.5)

where we recall that the horizon  $z_0$  is related to the temperature as  $T = (d+1)/(4\pi z_0)$ . The case d = 3 was considered in [7].

**Extremal charged black hole.** When  $Q \neq 0$  and T = 0 this analysis leads to

$$L = \frac{\sqrt{2}\pi z_0^{3/2}}{d\sqrt{d+1}\sqrt{z_0 - z_{\max}}} + O(1)$$
(2.6)



Figure 2. Extremal charged black hole in  $AdS_4$  with  $z_0 = 1$  (left) and  $z_0 = 1.5$  (right). Plot of the finite term  $\mathcal{A}_2(z_{\max}, 0)$  as a function of L (red line). For small L it recovers the corresponding quantity for  $AdS_4$  (blue curve) obtained from (A.9). The black line provides the large L behavior given by (2.7).

and

$$\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0) = \frac{\sqrt{2}\pi z_0^{3/2-d}}{d\sqrt{d+1}\sqrt{z_0 - z_{\max}}} + O(1) = \frac{L}{z_0^d} + O(1) .$$
(2.7)

In the figure 2 (see [12]) we show  $\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0)$  in terms of L for the extremal case. When L is small we are close to the boundary and the curve reproduces the one of  $AdS_4$ , as expected. By comparing the two plots in the figure, one can check the dependence on  $z_0$  in (2.7).

Non extremal charged black hole. The same method applied for T > 0 leads to

$$L = -\frac{\sqrt{z_0}}{\sqrt{2\pi dT}} \log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1)$$
(2.8)

and

$$\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0) = -\frac{\sqrt{z_0}}{z_0^d \sqrt{2\pi d T}} \log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1) = \frac{L}{z_0^d} + O(1) .$$
(2.9)

Comparing these three regimes of the same black hole, one learns that the finite term of the holographic entanglement entropy diverges like the width L (and therefore like the volume) of the strip in the boundary. The distinguished feature is the kind of divergence of  $\mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0)$  and L as  $z_{\max} \to z_0$ . This is determined by the near horizon geometry which is given by  $f(z) = O(z_0 - z)$  for the Schwarzschild and the non extremal case and by  $f(z) = O((z_0 - z)^2)$  for the extremal case (see the appendix B). As a check, one can perform the expansion of the finite term just described substituting to the emblacking function f(z) its near horizon approximation  $f_{nh}(z)$  and verify that the same divergence shown above are obtained.

We remark that for all the black holes we are considering the horizon is non compact; therefore the wrapping of the minimal surface around the horizon in the large L limit described e.g. in [6, 7, 24, 31] does not occur. In the appendix D we employ the splitting (1.14) of the finite term to study the O(1) term in (2.7) and discuss the approximation obtained by using the near horizon geometry.

#### 2.2 Warped black hole

In this section we employ the observation just made about the role of the region close to the horizon and apply the expansion described in (2.1) and (2.2) to a black hole where only the near horizon geometry is known.

In [27] a minimal consistent truncation of the type IIB supergravity has been considered by the following metric

$$ds^{2} = e^{-\frac{5}{3}\chi} ds_{M}^{2} + R^{2} e^{\chi} \left[ \frac{e^{-4\eta}}{9} \left( d\psi + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \cos \phi_{i} \right)^{2} + \frac{e^{\eta}}{6} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left( d\theta_{i}^{2} + \sin^{2} \theta_{i} \, d\phi_{i}^{2} \right) \right]$$
(2.10)

where the non compact space M is given by

$$ds_M^2 = -ge^{-w}dt^2 + \frac{dr^2}{g} + \frac{r^2}{R^2}\sum_{i=1}^3 dx_i^2.$$
(2.11)

The functions  $\chi$ ,  $\eta$ , g and w depend on the coordinate r only. The geometry (2.10) is required to provide  $AdS_5 \times T^{1,1}$  on the boundary, i.e. at large r.

In [27] the equations of motion coming from the effective Lagrangian have been solved numerically; nevertheless analytic formulae have been found in some limits. We are interested in the T = 0 regime, for which the first term of a series expansion near the horizon is given. The novel feature is that the near horizon region is a warped product  $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}^3 \times T^{1,1}$ . As discussed in [27], one can employ the symmetries of the problem to set to one both the AdS radius and the position of the horizon, but we prefer to keep  $r_0$ generic for clearness.

The metric (2.10) falls into the general class considered in the section 1.1 through the ansatz (1.16) by choosing D = 9, d = 3 and

$$A(r)^2 = g(r)$$
  $B(r)^2 = \frac{r^2}{R^2}$ . (2.12)

The analytic behavior near the horizon in the T = 0 case reads [27]

$$g(r) = b(r - r_0)^{13/3} + \dots$$
  $b \equiv \frac{93312\sqrt[3]{12}}{25}$ . (2.13)

As checked in the section 2.1 for the charged black hole, the near horizon region determines the leading divergence of the finite term of the holographic entanglement entropy as the strip in the boundary becomes large. Thus, we perform the expansion discussed at the beginning of the section 2 by using the near horizon geometry (2.13) instead of the full metric (which is still analytically unknown). Introducing  $r_{\min} = r_0 + \varepsilon \rho_{\min}$  with finite  $\rho_{\min}$ and changing the integration variable accordingly ( $r = r_0 + \varepsilon \rho$ ), we get for the leading behavior of the integral in (1.20) the following result

$$\frac{L}{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6b r_0} \varepsilon^{5/3}} \int_{\rho_{\min}}^{\infty} \frac{d\rho}{\rho^{13/6} (\rho - \rho_{\min})} + \dots = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6b r_0}} \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right) (r_{\min} - r_0)^{5/3}} + \dots \quad (2.14)$$

where ... denote higher orders in  $\varepsilon$ . The same procedure can be applied to the integral in (1.23) which provides the leading divergence of the finite term in the holographic entanglement entropy as  $r_{\min}$  approaches the horizon. The result reads

$$\int_{r_{\min}}^{\infty} \left( \frac{r^5}{\sqrt{g(r)}\sqrt{r^6 - r_{\min}^6}} - r \right) dr = \frac{r_0^{5/2}}{\sqrt{6b}} \frac{\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{13}{6}\right)\left(r_{\min} - r_0\right)^{5/3}} + \dots = r_0^3\,L + \dots \,(2.15)$$

where in the last step we have used (2.14). Thus, also in this case the expected behavior for  $r_{\min} \rightarrow r_0$  is recovered (here we have d = 3).

#### 2.3 Perturbed Lifshitz background

The Lifshitz background is defined by a metric which is scale invariant if the space coordinates and the time coordinate scale with a different power. The relative scale dimension of time and space is the dynamical exponent. This parameter usually occurs in the time component of the metric; therefore it does not affect the computation of the holographic entanglement entropy, which involves the metric on a constant time slice. An example of this type is considered in the section 3. Instead, when the dynamical exponent occurs in some spatial component of the metric, then it usually turns out to be involved non trivially in the holographic computation of the entanglement entropy [32]. In this section we consider an example of this type.

A perturbation of the Lifshitz background through a formal parameter expansion was studied in [28] as a solution of the Abelian Higgs model in  $AdS_4$  [29], introduced to describe superconducting black holes. The metric to consider reads

$$ds^{2} = -g(r)^{2}dt^{2} + \frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}}d\vec{x}^{2} + e^{2b(r)}\frac{R^{2}}{r^{2}}dr^{2}. \qquad (2.16)$$

In [28] it was found that the Lifshitz background is a solution and also its perturbation of the following form is allowed

$$g(r) = \left(\frac{r}{R}\right)^{\omega} + \lambda g_1(r) + O(\lambda^2) \qquad b(r) = \lambda c r^{\gamma} + O(\lambda^2) \qquad (2.17)$$

where  $\lambda$  is a formal expansion parameter and  $\gamma$  depends on the dynamical exponent  $\omega$  besides other parameters of the model. The explicit expression of  $\gamma$  is not important for our discussion. Notice that the dynamical exponent affects the spatial part of the metric through the perturbation of the Lifshitz background, and therefore it occurs in the computation of the holographic entanglement entropy. Since (2.16) on a constant time slice is a special case of the ansatz considered in the section 1.1, we can employ the results discussed there. From (1.23) with d = 2, B(r) = r/R and  $A(r) = e^{-b(r)}r/R$ , we find that the finite term in the holographic entanglement entropy is provided by the following integral

$$\int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \left( \frac{e^{b(r)}}{\sqrt{1 - (r_{\min}/r)^4}} - 1 \right) dr = \int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - (r_{\min}/r)^4}} - 1 \right) dr \qquad (2.18)$$
$$+ \lambda c \int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \frac{r^{\gamma}}{\sqrt{1 - (r_{\min}/r)^4}} \, dr + O(\lambda^2) \, .$$

We are mainly interested in the  $O(\lambda)$  term in the r.h.s. of (2.18) because the O(1) one provides the result of  $AdS_4$  and of the Lifshitz background in four dimensions (they have the same entanglement entropy because their metric differs only in the time component). In (2.18) we cannot go to  $O(\lambda^2)$  because it involves the  $O(\lambda^2)$  of b(r) in (2.17), which is not known; but the  $O(\lambda)$  term is already interesting because it contains the dynamical exponent through  $\gamma$ . To get a finite result from the integral at  $O(\lambda)$  in (2.18) when  $\alpha \to \infty$ we need  $\gamma < -1$ . Then we have

$$\int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \frac{r^{\gamma}}{\sqrt{1 - (r_{\min}/r)^4}} \, dr = \frac{r_{\min}^{\gamma+1}}{4} B_{\rho^4} \Big( -\frac{1+\gamma}{4}, \frac{1}{2} \Big) \Big|_{\frac{r_{\min}}{\alpha}}^1 = \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \, \Gamma(\frac{-1-\gamma}{4})}{4 \, \Gamma(\frac{1-\gamma}{4})} \, r_{\min}^{\gamma+1} + O(\alpha^{1+\gamma})$$
(2.19)

where we found it useful to employ the integration variable  $\rho \equiv r_{\min}/r$  and the final result is expressed in terms of the incomplete beta function  $B_z(a, b)$ , which reduces to the beta function  $B(a, b) = \Gamma(a)\Gamma(b)/\Gamma(a + b)$  for z = 1 and it is related to the hypergeometric function for a general z as  $B_z(p, q) = (z^p/p) {}_2F_1(p, 1 - q; 1 + p; z)$ .

As for the length L of the interval in the boundary, it is related to  $r_{\min}$  through the integral (1.20), which in this case can be expanded up to  $O(\lambda)$ , similarly to what we have done in (2.18) for the area of the minimal surface. The result is

$$L = 2R^2 r_{\min}^2 \int_{r_{\min}}^{\infty} \frac{e^{b(r)}}{r^4 \sqrt{1 - (r_{\min}/r)^4}} dr = \frac{2R^2 \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{3}{4})}{r_{\min} \Gamma(\frac{1}{4})} + \lambda \frac{cR^2 \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{3-\gamma}{4})}{2r_{\min}^{1-\gamma} \Gamma(\frac{5-\gamma}{4})} + O(\lambda^2) .$$
(2.20)

Again, the first term in (2.20) provides the result for  $AdS_4$  (see (A.3)). We can invert (2.20) perturbatively and find  $r_{\min}(L)$  up to  $O(\lambda^2)$  terms by using that

$$L = c_0 r_{\min}^{d_0} \left[ 1 + c_1 r_{\min}^{d_1} \lambda + O(\lambda^2) \right] \qquad r_{\min} = \left( \frac{L}{c_0} \right)^{\frac{1}{d_0}} \left[ 1 - \frac{c_1}{d_0} \left( \frac{L}{c_0} \right)^{\frac{a_1}{d_0}} \lambda + O(\lambda^2) \right].$$
(2.21)

In our case we find

$$r_{\min} = \frac{2R^2 \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{3}{4})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{4}) L} \left[ 1 + \lambda \frac{c \Gamma(\frac{3-\gamma}{4}) \Gamma(\frac{1}{4})}{4 \Gamma(\frac{5-\gamma}{4}) \Gamma(\frac{3}{4})} \left( \frac{2R^2 \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{3}{4})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{4}) L} \right)^{\gamma} + O(\lambda^2) \right] .$$
(2.22)

Plugging this result into (2.19) we find that the correction  $O(\lambda)$  to the holographic entanglement entropy is proportional to

$$\lambda c \int_{r_{\min}}^{\alpha} \frac{r^{\gamma}}{\sqrt{1 - (r_{\min}/r)^4}} dr$$
$$= \frac{\lambda c}{L^{1+\gamma}} \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{-1-\gamma}{4})}{4 \Gamma(\frac{1-\gamma}{4})} \left(\frac{2R^2 \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{3}{4})}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{4})}\right)^{\gamma+1} \left[1 + O(\alpha^{1+\gamma})\right] + O(\lambda^2) . \quad (2.23)$$

Since we are assuming  $1 + \gamma < 0$  this term diverges like  $L^{-(1+\gamma)}$ . The interesting feature is that the dynamical exponent occurs in a non trivial way in the scaling of the finite term of the holographic entanglement entropy in terms of the width L of the strip. This computation is not conclusive because it involves only the first term of a perturbative expansion, but we expect the occurrence of the dynamical exponent in such scaling also for the result computed with the full (non perturbative) expression of the metric.

## **3** A Lifshitz black hole in four dimensions

In this section we consider the Lifshitz black hole in four dimensions (d = 2) found in [30]. Because of the simple emblacking function characterizing this black hole, we can compute the holographic entanglement entropy analytically to all order in the UV cutoff. This allows us also to check the method employed in the section 2 to find the divergent term in the finite integral of the area as  $z_{\text{max}}$  goes to the horizon  $z_0$ .

The Lifshitz black hole of [30] is a solution e.g. of a model in four dimensions which includes, besides gravity, a massive U(1) gauge field and a strongly coupled scalar, namely a scalar without kinetic term. Its metric reads

$$ds^{2} = -f(z)\frac{dt^{2}}{z^{2\omega}} + \frac{d\vec{x}^{2}}{z^{2}} + \frac{dz^{2}}{z^{2}f(z)} \qquad \qquad f(z) = 1 - \frac{z^{2}}{z_{0}^{2}}.$$
(3.1)

The boundary is at z = 0 and the range of the holographic coordinate is  $(0, z_0)$ . The dynamical exponent is  $\omega = 2$  and the bulk curvature radius R has been set to one. Near the boundary the metric (3.1) asymptotes the Lifshitz spacetime in four dimensions with dynamical exponent equal to two. Near the horizon the emblacking function f(z) vanishes linearly and the metric on the constant time slice is (1.3) with the f(z) given in (3.1).

We remark that, since the anisotropy  $\omega$  does not occur in the metric on the constant t slice, we do not see the effects described in [32]. In that case they have an anisotropy between two spatial directions; therefore the holographic entanglement entropy is sensible to the difference between them.

As first step we study the leading order for  $z_{\text{max}} \rightarrow z_0$  of the finite term (1.13) by employing the expansion described in the section 2. The result is

$$\mathcal{A}_2(z_{\max}, 0) = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2} z_0} \log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1) .$$
(3.2)

Like in all the cases considered in the section 2, we cannot say anything about the finite term with this method.

For the Lifshitz black hole (3.1) we can compute the integral in (1.10) analytically (we find it convenient to adopt  $\tilde{z} \equiv w^2/z_{\text{max}}^2$  as integration variable). The result reads

$$A_2(z_{\max}, a) = \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{2z_{\max}^2}{w^2 \sqrt{f_L(w)} \sqrt{z_{\max}^4 - w^4}} \, dw = -\frac{1}{z_{\max}} \,\mathcal{I}\left(\frac{a^2}{z_{\max}^2}\right) \tag{3.3}$$

where

$$\mathcal{I}(x) \equiv 2\sqrt{1+\beta} E\left(\arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{(1+\beta)(1-x)}{2(1-\beta x)}}\right) \left|\frac{2}{1+\beta}\right) -\sqrt{2\beta} F\left(\arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{1-x}{1-\beta x}}\right) \left|\frac{1+\beta}{2}\right) - 2\sqrt{\frac{1-x^2}{x(1-\beta x)}}\right)\right|$$
(3.4)

being  $\beta \equiv (z_{\text{max}}/z_0)^2$  and the function F(x|m) and E(x|m) the incomplete elliptic integrals of the first and of the second kind respectively. Notice that the upper extremum of

integration in (3.3) gives a vanishing contribution. Expanding (3.3) for small UV cutoff a we find

$$A_{2}(z_{\max},a) = \frac{2}{a} - \frac{f_{0}(\beta)}{z_{\max}} - \frac{\beta a}{z_{\max}^{2}} - \left(\frac{5}{3} - \frac{13}{12}\beta^{2}\right)\frac{a^{3}}{z_{\max}^{4}} - \left(\frac{13}{10}\beta - \frac{43}{40}\beta^{3}\right)\frac{a^{5}}{z_{\max}^{6}} \quad (3.5)$$
$$- \left(\frac{11}{28} + \frac{47}{56}\beta^{2} - \frac{445}{448}\beta^{4}\right)\frac{a^{7}}{z_{\max}^{8}} + O(a^{9})$$

with the function  $f_0(\beta)$  occurring in the finite term of this expansion given by

$$f_0(\beta) \equiv 2\sqrt{1+\beta} E\left(\arcsin\left(\sqrt{\frac{1+\beta}{2}}\right) \left|\frac{2}{1+\beta}\right) - \sqrt{2}\beta K\left(\frac{1+\beta}{2}\right) \right. (3.6)$$

where K(z) is the complete elliptic integral of the first kind. As  $z_{\text{max}} \rightarrow z_0$  we get

$$-\frac{f_0(\beta)}{z_{\max}} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}z_0}\log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1)$$
(3.7)

which confirms the result (3.2) found through the method described in the section 2.

For this black hole we can compute also the integral (1.8) as done for the one in (3.3). Again, the upper extremum of the definite integral gives a vanishing contribution. The result reads

$$L = \frac{2z_{\max}}{\beta\sqrt{1+\beta}} \left[ F\left( \arcsin\left(\frac{\sqrt{1+\beta}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \left| \frac{2}{1+\beta}\right) - (1-\beta) \Pi\left(\frac{2\beta}{1+\beta}; \arcsin\left(\frac{\sqrt{1+\beta}}{\sqrt{2}}\right) \left| \frac{2}{1+\beta}\right) \right]$$
(3.8)

where  $\Pi(x, \phi|m)$  is the incomplete elliptic integral of the third kind. When  $z_{\max} \to z_0$  we have

$$L = -\frac{z_0}{\sqrt{2}} \log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1) .$$
(3.9)

Combining this result with (3.7) we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}_2(z_{\max}), 0) = \frac{L}{z_0^2} + O(1) \tag{3.10}$$

as expected. Besides providing another check for the method discussed in the section 2, this is a black hole whose holographic entanglement entropy can be computed analytically.

#### 4 Two disconnected strips

In this section we consider the case of a region A in the boundary made by two parallel strips. In particular, following [26], we study the transition of the mutual information in  $AdS_{d+2}$  (section 4.1) and in the charge black hole background (section 4.2).

Let us consider a spatial slice of the boundary theory with two parallel strips  $A_1$  and  $A_2$  whose widths are  $L_1$  and  $L_2$  respectively and separated by a distance  $L_0$ . As recalled in

the introduction, the natural quantity to study for two disconnected regions is the mutual information  $M_A \equiv S_{A_1} + S_{A_2} - S_{A_1 \cup A_2}$  because it is UV finite.

In order to find the minimal surface associated to the region  $A = A_1 \cup A_2$  in the holographic computation, we have to consider two pairs of disjoint surfaces extended in the bulk whose boundary coincides with the boundary of the two strips. Together with the region A, the first pair of surfaces encloses a connected volume of the bulk, while the second one encloses two disconnected volumes of the bulk. The strong subadditivity inequalities guarantee that the pair of intersecting surfaces in the bulk whose boundary coincides with  $\partial A$  is not minimal [24–26]. The divergent term giving the area law is the same for both these two pairs of surfaces because they share the same boundary. Thus, in order to find the pair with minimal surface, we have to consider the finite term (in the UV cutoff) of the integrals giving the area of the pair of surfaces.

We find it useful here to change slightly the notation for the finite part (1.13) of the holographic entanglement entropy by introducing  $\tilde{A}_d(L) \equiv \mathcal{A}_d(z_{\max}, 0)$  where  $z_{\max} = z_{\max}(L)$  is the inverse function of (1.8). Thus, we consider

$$S_d(L_1, L_2; L_0) \equiv \min\left[\underbrace{\tilde{A}_d(L_1) + \tilde{A}_d(L_2)}_{\text{disconnected volumes}}; \underbrace{\tilde{A}_d(L_0) + \tilde{A}_d(L_1 + L_0 + L_2)}_{\text{connected volume}}\right]$$
(4.1)

which occurs in the mutual information for the finite parts

$$M_d(L_1, L_2; L_0) \equiv A_d(L_1) + A_d(L_2) - S_d(L_1, L_2; L_0) .$$
(4.2)

We remark that in (4.2) we talk about mutual information with a slight abuse of notation because the mutual information is given by (4.2) multiplied by a factor  $R^d L_{\perp}^{d-1}/(4G_N^{(d+2)})$ coming from (1.2) and (1.10). We made this choice for clearness and we believe it will not mislead the reader.

The mutual information (4.2) is zero when the minimal surface is given by the pair of surfaces enclosing the disconnected volumes and it is positive when the minimal surface corresponds to the pair of surfaces enclosing the is the connected volume. The transition of the mutual information (4.2) from zero to a positive value occurs when the two terms compared in (4.1) are equal, i.e.

$$\tilde{A}_d(L_1) + \tilde{A}_d(L_2) = \tilde{A}_d(L_0) + \tilde{A}_d(L_1 + L_0 + L_2) .$$
(4.3)

In the remaining part of this section we study this equation in the special case of equal strips, namely  $L_1 = L_2$ . First we consider  $AdS_{d+2}$ , where some analytic result can be found, and then the charged black hole in  $AdS_{d+2}$ .

## 4.1 $AdS_{d+2}$

For  $AdS_{d+2}$  the analysis is simple because we explicitly know that (see (A.9) and (A.10))

$$\tilde{A}_d(L) = -\frac{\alpha_d}{L^{d-1}} \qquad \qquad \alpha_d = \frac{1}{d-1} \left(\frac{2\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2d}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2d}\right)}\right)^a \tag{4.4}$$



Figure 3. Holographic mutual information in  $AdS_4$  with  $L_2 = L_1$ . On the left we show  $M_2(L_1, L_1; L_0)$  for  $L_0 = 0.87$  (red),  $L_0 = 1.91$  (blue) and  $L_0 = 3.93$  (black). On the right, in the parameter space  $(L_1, L_0)$ , we plot the position of the transition point at which the mutual information starts to be non zero.

which holds for  $d \ge 2$ . Keeping the distance  $L_0$  between the two equal strips fixed, for small  $L_1$  the pair of surfaces enclosing the disconnected volumes is minimal and the mutual information (4.2) is zero. Increasing  $L_1$ , at a certain point the pair of surfaces enclosing the connected volume becomes minimal and the mutual information (4.2) is therefore positive. For large  $L_1$  the mutual information goes asymptotically to a constant, as shown for d = 2in the figure 3 (plot on the left). In order to find the asymptotic value of the mutual information, we observe from (4.4) that  $\tilde{A}_d(L) \to 0$  when  $L \to \infty$ . This implies that

$$\lim_{L_1 \to \infty} M_d(L_1, L_1; L_0) = -\tilde{A}_d(L_0) .$$
(4.5)

which provides the asymptotic value of the mutual information as a function of the distance between the strips.

As for the transition point at which the mutual information starts to be positive, its defining relation (4.3) specified for  $AdS_{d+2}$  and  $L_2 = L_1$  reads

$$(L_0/L_1+2)^{d-1} = \frac{(L_0/L_1)^{d-1}}{2(L_0/L_1)^{d-1}-1} \qquad d \ge 2$$
(4.6)

where (4.4) has been employed. For any fixed  $d \ge 2$ , we can easily observe through a graphical analysis that the equation (4.6) has only one positive root for  $L_0/L_1$ . This root provides the angular coefficient of the straight line in the plane  $(L_1, L_0)$ . In the figure 3 (plot on the right) the case of  $AdS_4$  is considered.

In the figure 4 we show the angular coefficient of the straight line, namely the solution of (4.6), as function of d. We remark that the equation (4.6) holds for  $d \ge 2$ . The case of  $AdS_3$  (i.e. d = 1) has been studied in [26], finding that the transition occurs when the conformal ratio  $x \equiv z_{12}z_{34}/(z_{13}z_{24}) = L_1^2/(L_1 + L_0)^2 = 1/2$ , which corresponds to the red point in the figure 4.

#### 4.2 Charged black holes

In this section we consider the holographic mutual information for a charged black hole.



Figure 4. Two equal and parallel strips. Angular coefficient of the line characterizing the transition of the holographic mutual information in  $AdS_{d+2}$  in terms of d. The red point corresponds to  $AdS_3$ , which is not described by the equation (4.6). In this case the transition occurs at the value x = 1/2 of the conformal ratio [26].



Figure 5. Extremal charged black hole in  $AdS_4$  with  $z_0 = 1$ . On the left the position of the transition point of the holographic mutual information in the parameter space  $(L_1, L_0)$ . On the right, a zoom of the same plot: the asymptotic line is provided by the equation (4.9) and the green line corresponds to the transition point of  $AdS_4$  (figure 3, plot on the right).

By employing the results of the section 2, we have that

$$\tilde{A}_d(L) = \frac{L}{z_0^d} + c_d + o(1) \qquad \text{for large } L \qquad (4.7)$$

where  $c_d$  is the O(1) term in (2.5), (2.7) and (2.9). Since we are not able to determine  $c_d$ analytically, we fix it by fitting the numerical values of  $\tilde{A}_d(L)$  at large L with a line. For two equal strips of width  $L_1$  at fixed distance  $L_0$ , the behavior of the mutual information is qualitatively the same obtained for  $AdS_{d+2}$  and shown in the figure 3 (plot on the left). The asymptotic value of  $M_d(L_1, L_1; L_0)$  at fixed  $L_0$  can be found by employing (4.7). For  $L_1 \to \infty$  we have

$$M_d(L_1, L_1; L_0) = 2\tilde{A}_d(L_1) - \tilde{A}_d(L_0) - \tilde{A}_d(2L_1 + L_0) \longrightarrow c_d - \tilde{A}_d(L_0) - \frac{L_0}{z_0^d} .$$
(4.8)

As for the position of the transition point of  $M_d(L_1, L_1; L_0)$  in the plane  $(L_1, L_0)$ , the curve is instead qualitatively different from the corresponding one obtained for  $AdS_{d+2}$ , Indeed, while we get a straight line for  $AdS_{d+2}$  (plot on the right in the figure 3), for the charged black hole we find a curve with an asymptotic constant value (plot on the left in the figure 5). In particular, the straight line of  $AdS_{d+2}$  is tangent to the curve corresponding to the charged black hole which is asymptotically  $AdS_{d+2}$ , as shown by the plot on the right in the figure 5. Indeed, for small values of  $L_1$  the pairs of surfaces to compare are close to the boundary and consequently the transition between them is determined by the asymptotic geometry.

Let us consider further the characteristic asymptotic value  $\tilde{L}_0$  of the curve of the transition points of the mutual information for a charged black hole in the plane  $(L_1, L_0)$  as  $L_1$  becomes large. The equation defining  $\tilde{L}_0$  can be found by taking the limit  $L_1 \to \infty$  and  $L_0 \to \tilde{L}_0$  of the equation (4.3) and employing (4.7). The result is

$$\tilde{A}_d(\tilde{L}_0) + \frac{L_0}{z_0^d} - c_d = 0 \tag{4.9}$$

which can be solved numerically. This asymptotic value of the distance between the two strips could be interpreted as a signal of the occurrence of a finite correlation length in the boundary theory.

The qualitative features just described for the extremal charged black are found for the non extremal case as well. The mutual information  $M_d(L_1, L_1; L_0)$  behaves like in the plot on the left of the figure 3 and the curve of the transition points is qualitatively like the one shown in the figure 5, with the asymptotic value given by the solution of the equation (4.9) with the proper emblacking function depending on the temperature. In the figure 6 we show the curves of transition points of  $M_2(L_1, L_1; L_0)$  for two different temperatures besides the extremal case at fixed charge. The curve corresponding to a certain temperature always stays below the curve corresponding to a lower temperature, meaning that the asymptotic value determined by (4.9) decreases with the temperature for a fixed charge of the black hole. We recall that imposing Q fixed implies that we cannot change the temperature keeping fixed the position of the horizon  $z_0$  because these quantities are related through (B.7).

#### 5 Conclusions

In this paper we have considered two aspects of the holographic entanglement entropy in black hole backgrounds: the behavior of the finite term as the width of the strip in the boundary becomes large and the transition of the mutual information for two equal strips in the parameter space given by the width of the strips and their distance.

For one strip in the limit of large volume, which means that the turning point of the minimal surface approaches the horizon, we confirm and extend to new cases the known



Figure 6. Charged black hole in  $AdS_4$  at fixed charge. Position of the transition point for  $M_2(L_1, L_1; L_0)$  in the plane  $(L_1, L_0)$ : the red curve corresponds to the extremal case (see the figure 5, plot on the right) while the blue and the orange ones correspond to two non extremal cases (T = 0.1 and T = 0.18 respectively). The black horizontal line gives the asymptotic value of the extremal case while the green line corresponds to the transition point of  $AdS_4$ .

result that the finite term scales like the width, and therefore like the volume, of the strip. The distinguished feature of the different black holes is the degree of the divergence of the finite part in terms of the distance between the turning point and the horizon, which is determined by the near horizon geometry. In the case of a Lifshitz background with a dynamical exponent entering in the spatial part of the metric, such scaling could be influenced by this exponent. For a Lifshitz black hole in four dimensions we computed the analytic expression of the holographic entanglement entropy to all orders in the UV cutoff.

For two equal and parallel strips in the boundary, we have found that the transition of the mutual information for a charged black hole naturally provides a finite limiting distance between the strips as their width becomes large. This asymptotic value could be interpreted as a signal of a finite correlation length in the boundary theory. The transition in the mutual information is characteristic of the holographic prescription; therefore it is a large c effect. We believe that it is important to further study this transition in order to understand how it smooths out for finite c. This is part of the general aim of reproducing through holography the results obtained for the mutual information in the finite c models.

## Acknowledgments

It is a pleasure to thank Hong Liu for collaboration in the initial stage of this project and for many helpful discussions and advices during its development. I am also grateful to Matthew Headrick, Mark Hertzberg, Veronika Hubeny, John McGreevy, Mukund Rangamani, Tadashi Takayanagi, Frank Wilczek and in particular to Antonello Scardicchio for useful discussions. I thank the Physics department of the University of Pisa and the Galileo Galilei Institute for their kind hospitality during the last part of this project.

This work is mainly supported by Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare (INFN) through a Bruno Rossi fellowship and also by funds of the U.S. Department of Energy (DoE) under the cooperative research agreement DE-FG02-05ER41360.

# A $AdS_{d+2}$

For the sake of completeness, in this appendix we briefly review the results for the holographic entanglement entropy in  $AdS_{d+2}$  for the strip [6, 7]. The expressions in the section 1 can be applied with f(z) = 1 identically.

The inverse function of the profile z(x) representing the minimal surface is given by

$$x(z) = \int_{z}^{z_{\max}} \frac{w^{d}}{\sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} \, dw = \left. \frac{w^{d+1}}{(d+1)z_{\max}^{d}} \, _{2}F_{1}\left(\frac{d+1}{2d}, \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3d+1}{2d}; \frac{w^{2d}}{z_{\max}^{2d}}\right) \right|_{z}^{z_{\max}}$$
(A.1)

$$= \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2d}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2d}\right)} z_{\max} - \frac{z^{d+1}}{(d+1)z_{\max}^d} {}_2F_1\left(\frac{d+1}{2d}, \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3d+1}{2d}; \frac{z^{2d}}{z_{\max}^{2d}}\right) .$$
(A.2)

Since x(0) = L/2, from (A.2) we see that

$$L = \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2d}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2d}\right)} z_{\max} .$$
 (A.3)

As for the regularized area of this minimal surface, it is given by (1.10) where now the integral to perform is

$$A_d(z_{\max}, a) = 2 \int_a^{z_{\max}} \frac{z_{\max}^d}{w^d \sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} \, dw \tag{A.4}$$

$$= \frac{2}{(d-1)a^{d-1}} - \frac{2}{(d-1)z_{\max}^{d-1}} + \int_{a}^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^{d}} \left(\frac{z_{\max}^{d}}{\sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} - 1\right) dw \quad (A.5)$$

where the divergence for small a has been isolated as in (1.11) or (1.14) (in absence of the black hole they provide the same result). The integral in (A.5) reads

$$\int_{a}^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^{d}} \left( \frac{z_{\max}^{d}}{\sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} - 1 \right) dw =$$

$$= \left[ \frac{2}{(d-1)w^{d-1}} \left( 1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{w^{2d}}{z_{\max}^{2d}}} \right) - \frac{2w^{d+1}}{(d^{2} - 1)z_{\max}^{2d}} \, {}_{2}F_{1} \left( \frac{d+1}{2d}, \frac{1}{2}; \frac{3d+1}{2d}; \frac{w^{2d}}{z_{\max}^{2d}} \right) \right] \Big|_{a}^{z_{\max}}$$

$$= \frac{2}{(d-1)z_{\max}^{d-1}} - \frac{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2d})}{(d-1)\Gamma(\frac{1}{2d})z_{\max}^{d-1}} + O(a^{d+1}) \qquad d \ge 2.$$
(A.6)
(A.6)
(A.6)

Thus the UV divergence of Area $(\gamma_A)$  has been isolated and the final result is [7]

$$A_d(z_{\max}, a) = \frac{2}{(d-1)a^{d-1}} - \frac{2\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2d})}{(d-1)\,\Gamma(\frac{1}{2d})\,z_{\max}^{d-1}} + O(a^{d+1}) \tag{A.8}$$

$$= \frac{2}{(d-1)a^{d-1}} - \frac{\alpha_d}{L^{d-1}} + O(a^{d+1})$$
(A.9)

where

$$\alpha_d \equiv \frac{1}{d-1} \left( \frac{2\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma\left(\frac{d+1}{2d}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2d}\right)} \right)^d . \tag{A.10}$$

This expression has been employed in the section 4.1 to study the asymptotic value of the mutual information.

Now we find it useful to derive (A.8) also in the following way, which could be employed in a generalized version for the black holes. First one writes the integral in (A.5) as a series

$$\int_{a}^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^d} \left( \frac{z_{\max}^d}{\sqrt{z_{\max}^{2d} - w^{2d}}} - 1 \right) dw = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{2b_n}{z_{\max}^{2dn}} \int_{a}^{z_{\max}} w^{d(2n-1)} dw$$
(A.11)

$$= \frac{2}{z_{\max}^{d-1}} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{b_n}{(2n-1)d+1} + O(a^{d+1}) \quad (A.12)$$

where in (A.11) the coefficients  $b_n$  can be found by employing the following identity with  $\alpha = 1/2$ 

$$\frac{1}{(1-x)^{\alpha}} = {}_2F_1(\alpha,\beta;\beta;x) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\alpha)_n}{n!} x^n \qquad \Longrightarrow \qquad b_n = \frac{(1/2)_n}{n!} \tag{A.13}$$

being  $(c)_n \equiv c(c+1) \dots (c+n-1)$  the Pochhammer symbol (we recall that  $(c)_0 \equiv 1$ ).

Then, from (A.5) and (A.12) we get that for the finite term in the expansion for small a

$$\frac{2}{z_{\max}^{d-1}} \left( -\frac{1}{d-1} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{b_n}{(2n-1)d+1} \right) = -\frac{2\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2d})}{(d-1) \Gamma(\frac{1}{2d}) z_{\max}^{d-1}}$$
(A.14)

which agrees with the finite term in (A.8).

## B Charged black holes in $AdS_{d+2}$

In this appendix we review some features of the charged black holes which are asymptotically  $AdS_{d+2}$ . The metric reads

$$ds^{2} = \frac{r^{2}}{R^{2}} \left( -fdt^{2} + d\vec{x}^{2} \right) + \frac{R^{2}}{r^{2}} \frac{dr^{2}}{f} \qquad \qquad f = 1 + \frac{Q^{2}}{r^{2d}} - \frac{M}{r^{d+1}} \qquad (B.1)$$

for  $d \ge 2$ , where  $d\vec{x}^2$  is the metric of  $\mathbb{R}^d$ , M is the mass and Q is the charge of the black hole. The boundary corresponds to large r, where the metric becomes the one of  $AdS_{d+2}$ with radius R. The Schwarzschild black hole in  $AdS_{d+2}$  is obtained by setting Q = 0. By introducing the variable  $z \equiv R^2/r$ , the metric (B.1) becomes (2.3) and the boundary corresponds to z = 0. This parameterization is largely used in this paper. Another useful parameterization of the radial coordinate is

$$e^{\tilde{r}/R} = \frac{r}{R} . \tag{B.2}$$

Notice that a scaling of r corresponds to a shift of  $\tilde{r}$ . With the parameterization given by  $\tilde{r}$ , the metric (B.1) reads

$$ds^{2} = e^{\tilde{r}/R} \left[ -f(\tilde{r})dt^{2} + d\vec{x}^{2} \right] + \frac{d\tilde{r}^{2}}{f(\tilde{r})} \qquad f(\tilde{r}) = 1 + \frac{Q^{2}}{R^{2d}} e^{-2d\tilde{r}/R} - \frac{M}{R^{d+1}} e^{-(d+1)\tilde{r}/R} .$$
(B.3)

It is convenient to parameterize Q by introducing  $r_*$  as follows

$$Q^{2} \equiv \frac{d+1}{d-1} r_{*}^{2d} = \frac{d+1}{d-1} \left(\frac{R^{2}}{z_{*}}\right)^{2d} .$$
(B.4)

From this expression it is evident that Q has the dimension of  $[L]^d$ . The limit  $z_* \to \infty$  corresponds to the Schwarzschild black hole. The chemical potential reads

$$\mu \equiv \sqrt{\frac{d}{2(d-1)}} \frac{g_F Q}{R^2 r_0^{d-1}} = \frac{\sqrt{d(d+1)}}{\sqrt{2(d-1)}} \frac{g_F r_0}{R^2} \left(\frac{r_*}{r_0}\right)^d = \frac{\sqrt{d(d+1)}}{\sqrt{2(d-1)}} \frac{g_F}{z_0} \left(\frac{z_0}{z_*}\right)^d \quad (B.5)$$

where  $g_F$  is the effective dimensionless gauge coupling. When  $z_* \to \infty$  for fixed  $z_0$  the chemical potential  $\mu$  vanishes. The temperature is

$$T = \frac{(d+1)r_0}{4\pi R^2} \left(1 - \frac{r_*^{2d}}{r_0^{2d}}\right) = \frac{d+1}{4\pi z_0} \left(1 - \frac{z_0^{2d}}{z_*^{2d}}\right) = \frac{d+1}{4\pi z_0} \left(1 - \frac{d-1}{d+1} \frac{Q^2 z_0^{2d}}{R^{4d}}\right) \ge 0.$$
(B.6)

Since  $r_0 \ge r_*$  in order to impose T > 0, we have  $z_0 \le z_*$ . Notice that if we want to keep Q fixed, changing T implies a change of  $z_0$ . Indeed, the values of Q and T fix the position  $z_0$  of the horizon through (B.6), which can be written also as follows

$$\frac{(d-1)Q^2}{(d+1)R^{4d}} z_0^{2d} + \frac{4\pi T}{d+1} z_0 - 1 = 0.$$
(B.7)

Setting R = 1, if we decide to choose  $z_0 = 1$  at T = 0 then  $Q^2 = (d+1)/(d-1)$ . Keeping this value for  $Q^2$  fixed, moving to T > 0 modifies  $z_0$  according to (B.6) which becomes

$$z_0^{2d} + \frac{4\pi T}{d+1} z_0 - 1 = 0.$$
 (B.8)

From the relation (B.6) it seems that there is a maximum temperature corresponding to  $z_* \to \infty$ . Instead the relevant parameter is the ratio

$$\frac{T}{\mu} = \frac{\sqrt{2(d+1)(d-1)z_*^d}}{4\pi g_F \sqrt{d} z_0^d} \left(1 - \frac{z_0^{2d}}{z_*^{2d}}\right) \equiv \tilde{\alpha}_d \left[ \left(\frac{z_*}{z_0}\right)^d - \left(\frac{z_*}{z_0}\right)^{-d} \right] \\
\tilde{\alpha}_d \equiv \frac{\sqrt{2(d+1)(d-1)}}{4\pi g_F \sqrt{d}} \tag{B.9}$$

which spans all the positive real numbers when  $z_* \in [z_0, \infty)$  in a strictly monotonical way, going to infinity when  $z_* \to \infty$ . From (B.9) we can see that (the other root is negative)

$$\left(\frac{z_*}{z_0}\right)^d = \frac{T}{2\tilde{\alpha}_d\mu} + \sqrt{\left(\frac{T}{2\tilde{\alpha}_d\mu}\right)^2 + 1} \ge 1$$
(B.10)

which becomes 1 when T = 0 for any  $d \ge 2$ . The parameter M, which can be expressed in terms of  $Q^2$  and the position  $r_0$  of the horizon, reads

$$M = r_0^{d+1} + \frac{Q^2}{r_0^{d-1}} = r_0^{d+1} + \frac{d+1}{d-1} \frac{r_*^{2d}}{r_0^{d-1}} = \left(\frac{R^2}{z_0}\right)^{d+1} \left[1 + \frac{d+1}{d-1} \left(\frac{z_0}{z_*}\right)^{2d}\right].$$
 (B.11)

Thus, the emblacking function can be written as follows

$$f(z) = 1 + \frac{d+1}{d-1} \left(\frac{z}{z_*}\right)^{2d} - \left[1 + \frac{d+1}{d-1} \left(\frac{z_0}{z_*}\right)^{2d}\right] \left(\frac{z}{z_0}\right)^{d+1}$$
(B.12)

$$= 1 + \frac{d+1}{d-1} \left( 1 - \frac{4\pi z_0}{d+1} T \right) \left( \frac{z}{z_0} \right)^{2d} - \frac{2d}{d-1} \left( 1 - \frac{4\pi z_0}{2d} T \right) \left( \frac{z}{z_0} \right)^{d+1}.$$
 (B.13)

Notice that from (B.12) and (B.10) we can write f(z) in terms of the ratio  $T/\mu$ . A very important role in our discussions is recovered by the near horizon geometry, namely the one obtained when  $z \to z_0$ . Close to the horizon, the emblacking function can be expanded as

$$f(z) = \frac{(d+1)(z_*^{2d} - z_0^{2d})}{z_0}(z - z_0) + \frac{d(d+1)(3z_0^{2d} - z_*^{2d})}{2z_0^2}(z - z_0)^2 + O((z - z_0)^3)$$
(B.14)

$$= 4\pi T(z_0 - z) + \frac{d(d + 1 - 6\pi z_0 T)}{z_0^2} (z - z_0)^2 + O((z - z_0)^3).$$
(B.15)

In the extremal case  $(T = 0 \Leftrightarrow z_* = z_0)$  the emblacking function  $f(z) = O((z - z_0)^2)$ , while in the non extremal case  $(T > 0 \text{ and } z_* > z_0)$  we have  $f(z) = O(z - z_0)$  when  $z \to z_0$ . We remark that also in the case of the Schwarzschild black hole, which corresponds to  $z_* \to \infty$ , we have  $f(z) = O(z - z_0)$  as  $z \to z_0$ .

## C Disk geometry

In this appendix we briefly discuss the case in which the region A in the spatial section of the boundary theory is given by a disk, while in the bulk a black hole occurs whose metric on the constant time slice is given by (1.3).

Taking as A the circle given by  $\rho = \hat{R}$  (it is more convenient to adopt the polar coordinates) and assuming that  $z = z(\rho)$ , we get

Area
$$(\gamma_A) = V_{d-1} \int_0^{\widetilde{R}} d\rho \, \rho^{d-1} \left(\frac{R}{z}\right)^d \sqrt{1 + \frac{(z')^2}{f(z)}}$$
 (C.1)

where  $z' = dz/d\rho$  and  $V_{d-1}$  is the volume of the d-1 unit sphere. Now the Lagrangian density  $\mathcal{L}_{disk}[z(\rho)]$  is the integrand of (C.1) and it explicitly depends on the coordinate  $\rho$ . This means that there is not a conserved first integral.

In order to minimize the functional (C.1) we need to solve the second order equation given by the equation of motion, which is

$$\rho \frac{z''z}{f(z)} + (d-1) \frac{z'z}{f(z)} \left[ 1 + \frac{(z')^2}{f(z)} \right] + d\rho \left[ 1 + \frac{(z')^2}{f(z)} \right] - \rho \frac{(z')^2 z}{2f(z)^2} f'(z) = 0$$
(C.2)

where f'(z) = df(z)/dz. Thus, this case is more complicated than the strip, largely considered throughout the paper, because now we have to solve a second order equation to find the profile to use in the integral giving the area.

For  $AdS_{d+2}$  the equation to solve is (C.2) with f(z) = 1 identically (see the footnote 20 of [7]) and its solution reads

$$z_0(\rho) = \sqrt{\tilde{R}^2 - \rho^2} \tag{C.3}$$

which is the semispherical surface whose A is the maximal circle. For a black hole background, which has a non trivial emblacking function f(z), the equation (C.2) for the profile of the minimal surface can be solved numerically.

#### D An alternative splitting of the finite term

In this appendix we provide some insights about the expansion for  $z_{\text{max}} \rightarrow z_0$  of the finite term of the holographic entanglement entropy and about the role of the near horizon geometry by considering the splitting (1.14).

Let us assume to know the first integral in (1.15) analytically. Then, the O(1) term of  $A_d(z_{\max}, a)$  in the expansion for  $a \to 0$  is obtained by  $I_d(0, z_{\max})$  plus a contribution from the first integral. In general we are unable to compute  $I_d(0, z_{\max})$ . Anyway, we are interested into its expansion as  $z_{\max} \to z_0$ . The emblacking function f(w) depends on the ratio  $w/z_0$ . By introducing  $y \equiv w/z_{\max} \in [0, 1]$  as integration variable, the function  $f(z_{\max} y)$  depends on the ratio  $z_{\max}/z_0 < 1$ , therefore we can consider the expansion of the function  $1/\sqrt{f(z_{\max} y)}$  as  $z_{\max}/z_0 \to 1^-$ , obtaining

$$I_d(0, z_{\max}) = \frac{2}{z_{\max}^{d-1}} \int_0^1 \frac{1}{y^d \sqrt{f(z_{\max}y)}} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-y^{2d}}} - 1\right) dy \tag{D.1}$$

$$\equiv \frac{2}{z_{\max}^{d-1}} \int_0^1 \sum_{n=0}^\infty \frac{h_n(y)}{y^d} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{1-y^{2d}}} - 1\right) \left(1 - \frac{z_{\max}}{z_0}\right)^n dy .$$
(D.2)

Unfortunately, the integral and the series cannot be inverted because the integrals occurring for any fixed n are divergent at the upper extremum y = 1 as we will see below in a special case. By introducing an intermediate scale  $a < z_{\lambda} < z_{\text{max}}$ , we can write

$$I_d(0, z_{\max}) = I_d(0, z_{\lambda}) + I_d(z_{\lambda}, z_{\max}).$$
 (D.3)

Now, in  $I(0, z_{\lambda})$  we can invert the series and the integral because the upper limit is  $z_{\lambda}/z_{\text{max}} < 1$  and the integrals converge. We get

$$I_d(0, z_{\lambda}) = \frac{2}{z_{\max}^{d-1}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[ \int_0^{\frac{z_{\lambda}}{z_{\max}}} \frac{h_n(y)}{y^d} \left( \frac{1}{\sqrt{1-y^{2d}}} - 1 \right) dy \right] \left( 1 - \frac{z_{\max}}{z_0} \right)^n \tag{D.4}$$

which is a well defined expansion whose coefficients depend on the ratio  $z_{\lambda}/z_{\text{max}}$ .

The second integral  $I(z_{\lambda}, z_{\max})$  is still divergent when  $z_{\max}/z_0 \to 1^-$  and we cannot invert the series with the integration as done in (D.4); therefore it must be computed analytically. Since this is usually too difficult, we can approximate it by employing the near horizon behavior of the emblacking function. The closer is  $z_{\lambda}$  to  $z_{\max}$ , the better is this approximation.

In order to apply these considerations to a concrete example, let us consider the extremal charged black hole in  $AdS_4$ . The first integral in (1.15) in this case can be computed, obtaining

$$\int_{a}^{z_{\text{max}}} \frac{2}{w^2 \sqrt{f(w)}} \, dw = \tag{D.5}$$

$$= 2 \left[ \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}z_0} \log \left( \frac{4w + 2z_0 + \sqrt{6(3w^2 + 2z_0w + z_0^2)}}{z_0 - w} \right) - \frac{\sqrt{3w^2 + 2z_0w + z_0^2}}{z_0 w} \right] \Big|_a^{z_{\text{max}}}$$
$$= \frac{2}{2} + \left[ -\frac{2}{\sqrt{2}} \log(z_0 - z_{\text{max}}) + O(1) \right] + O(a^2)$$
(D.6)

$$= \frac{2}{a} + \left[ -\frac{2}{\sqrt{6}z_0} \log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1) \right] + O(a^2)$$
(D.6)

where the square brackets in (D.6) enclose the finite term in the power series in a, which has been further expanded for  $z_{\text{max}} \rightarrow z_0$ .

Now, by expanding the integral in (1.15) as explained in the section 2 we find

$$I_2(z_{\max}, 0) = \frac{\pi}{\sqrt{6z_0}\sqrt{z_0 - z_{\max}}} + \frac{2}{\sqrt{6}z_0}\log(z_0 - z_{\max}) + O(1)$$
(D.7)

where, again, we do not control the finite term. Notice that the logarithmic divergence in (D.7) cancels the one in (D.6) and the remaining divergence is the same one found in (2.7) by using (1.11). This is a consistency check of the two splittings (1.11) and (1.14) of the same integral.

As discussed above in this appendix, let us consider the integral  $I_2(0, z_{\text{max}})$  in terms of the variable y (see (D.1)). The emblacking function then reads

$$f(z_{\max}y) = 1 - 4\left(\frac{z_{\max}}{z_0}y\right)^3 + 3\left(\frac{z_{\max}}{z_0}y\right)^4 .$$
(D.8)

By expanding  $1/\sqrt{f(z_{\max}y)}$  for  $z_{\max}/z_0 \to 1^-$ , we find the functions  $h_n(y)$  occurring in the series (D.4). For the first terms, they are e.g.

$$h_0(y) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - 4y^3 + 3y^4}} \qquad h_1(y) = -\frac{6(1 - y)y^3}{(1 - 4y^3 + 3y^4)^{3/2}} \qquad \dots \qquad (D.9)$$

and the corresponding integrals obtained by inverting the summation and the integration in (D.2) are divergent in 1 because  $1 - 4y^3 + 3y^4 = O((1-y)^2)$  when  $y \to 1$ .

As discussed above, we introduce an intermediate scale  $z_{\lambda}$  and split the integral as in (D.3), obtaining for the first term a well defined power series (D.4) in terms of integrals involving the functions  $h_n$ . We are not able to compute them analytically, but we are guaranteed that in  $I_2(0, z_{\lambda})$  is finite as  $z_{\max} \to z_0$ . The divergence comes from the near horizon region.



**Figure 7.** Extremal charged black hole in  $AdS_4$  and  $z_0 = 1$ . Plot of  $1/\sqrt{f(z)}$  (solid line) and  $1/\sqrt{f_{nh}(z)}$  (dashed line) as functions of  $z \in (0, z_0)$ .

As for the second integral in (D.3) giving the divergent part for  $z_{\text{max}} \rightarrow z_0$ , we cannot compute it explicitly, but we can relate it to the corresponding integral involving the near horizon geometry. In particular, as shown in the figure 7, the integral  $I_2(z_{\lambda}, z_{\text{max}})$  is greater than the corresponding one computed with the near horizon geometry for any choice of  $z_{\lambda}$ ; namely

$$I_2(z_{\lambda}, z_{\max}) > I_{2, nh}(z_{\lambda}, z_{\max}) \equiv \int_{z_{\lambda}}^{z_{\max}} \frac{2}{w^2 \sqrt{f_{nh}(w)}} \left(\frac{z_{\max}^2}{\sqrt{z_{\max}^4 - w^4}} - 1\right) dw \quad (D.10)$$

where the emblacking function close to the horizon reads (see (B.15))

$$f_{\rm nh}(w) = 6 \frac{(w - z_0)^2}{z_0^2}$$
. (D.11)

The integral in (D.10) is easier to deal with and the closer  $z_{\lambda}$  is to  $z_{\text{max}}$  the better is the approximation obtained by substituting  $I_2(z_{\lambda}, z_{\text{max}})$  with  $I_{2,\text{nh}}(z_{\lambda}, z_{\text{max}})$ .

## References

- [1] M. Srednicki, Entropy and area, Phys. Rev. Lett. 71 (1993) 666 [hep-th/9303048] [SPIRES].
- [2] C.G. Callan Jr. and F. Wilczek, On geometric entropy, Phys. Lett. B 333 (1994) 55 [hep-th/9401072] [SPIRES].
- [3] C. Holzhey, F. Larsen and F. Wilczek, Geometric and renormalized entropy in conformal field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 424 (1994) 443 [hep-th/9403108] [SPIRES].
- [4] P. Calabrese and J.L. Cardy, Entanglement entropy and quantum field theory, J. Stat. Mech. (2004) P06002 [hep-th/0405152] [SPIRES].
- [5] P. Calabrese and J. Cardy, Entanglement entropy and conformal field theory, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 504005 [arXiv:0905.4013] [SPIRES].

- S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602 [hep-th/0603001] [SPIRES].
- S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Aspects of holographic entanglement entropy, JHEP 08 (2006) 045 [hep-th/0605073] [SPIRES].
- [8] V.E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, A covariant holographic entanglement entropy proposal, JHEP 07 (2007) 062 [arXiv:0705.0016] [SPIRES].
- [9] D.V. Fursaev, Proof of the holographic formula for entanglement entropy, JHEP 09 (2006) 018 [hep-th/0606184] [SPIRES].
- [10] T. Nishioka, S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic entanglement entropy: an overview, J. Phys. A 42 (2009) 504008 [arXiv:0905.0932] [SPIRES].
- [11] I.R. Klebanov, D. Kutasov and A. Murugan, Entanglement as a probe of confinement, Nucl. Phys. B 796 (2008) 274 [arXiv:0709.2140] [SPIRES].
- [12] J.L.F. Barbon and C.A. Fuertes, A note on the extensivity of the holographic entanglement entropy, JHEP 05 (2008) 053 [arXiv:0801.2153] [SPIRES].
- [13] J.L.F. Barbon and C.A. Fuertes, Holographic entanglement entropy probes (non)locality, JHEP 04 (2008) 096 [arXiv:0803.1928] [SPIRES].
- [14] M. Caraglio and F. Gliozzi, Entanglement entropy and twist fields, JHEP 11 (2008) 076 [arXiv:0808.4094] [SPIRES].
- [15] S. Furukawa, V. Pasquier and J. Shiraishi, Mutual information and compactification radius in a c = 1 critical phase in one dimension, arXiv:0809.5113 [SPIRES].
- [16] P. Calabrese, J. Cardy and E. Tonni, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint intervals in conformal field theory, J. Stat. Mech. (2009) P11001 [arXiv:0905.2069] [SPIRES].
- [17] P. Calabrese, J. Cardy and E. Tonni, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint intervals in conformal field theory II, J. Stat. Mech. (2011) P01021 [arXiv:1011.5482] [SPIRES].
- [18] V. Alba, L. Tagliacozzo and P. Calabrese, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint blocks in critical Ising models, arXiv:0910.0706 [SPIRES].
- [19] M. Fagotti and P. Calabrese, Entanglement entropy of two disjoint blocks in XY chains, J. Stat. Mech. (2010) P04016 [arXiv:1003.1110] [SPIRES].
- [20] H. Casini, C.D. Fosco and M. Huerta, Entanglement and α entropies for a massive Dirac field in two dimensions, J. Stat. Mech. (2005) P07007 [cond-mat/0505563] [SPIRES].
- [21] H. Casini and M. Huerta, Remarks on the entanglement entropy for disconnected regions, JHEP 03 (2009) 048 [arXiv:0812.1773] [SPIRES].
- [22] H. Casini and M. Huerta, Reduced density matrix and internal dynamics for multicomponent regions, Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009) 185005 [arXiv:0903.5284] [SPIRES].
- [23] T. Hirata and T. Takayanagi, AdS/CFT and strong subadditivity of entanglement entropy, JHEP 02 (2007) 042 [hep-th/0608213] [SPIRES].
- [24] M. Headrick and T. Takayanagi, A holographic proof of the strong subadditivity of entanglement entropy, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 106013 [arXiv:0704.3719] [SPIRES].
- [25] V.E. Hubeny and M. Rangamani, Holographic entanglement entropy for disconnected regions, JHEP 03 (2008) 006 [arXiv:0711.4118] [SPIRES].

- [26] M. Headrick, Entanglement Renyi entropies in holographic theories, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 126010 [arXiv:1006.0047] [SPIRES].
- [27] C.P. Herzog, I.R. Klebanov, S.S. Pufu and T. Tesileanu, Emergent quantum near-criticality from baryonic black branes, JHEP 03 (2010) 093 [arXiv:0911.0400] [SPIRES].
- [28] S.S. Gubser and A. Nellore, Ground states of holographic superconductors, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 105007 [arXiv:0908.1972] [SPIRES].
- [29] S.S. Gubser, Breaking an abelian gauge symmetry near a black hole horizon, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 065034 [arXiv:0801.2977] [SPIRES].
- [30] K. Balasubramanian and J. McGreevy, An analytic Lifshitz black hole, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 104039 [arXiv:0909.0263] [SPIRES].
- [31] T. Azeyanagi, T. Nishioka and T. Takayanagi, Near extremal black hole entropy as entanglement entropy via AdS<sub>2</sub>/CFT1, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 064005 [arXiv:0710.2956]
   [SPIRES].
- [32] T. Azeyanagi, W. Li and T. Takayanagi, On string theory duals of Lifshitz-like fixed points, JHEP 06 (2009) 084 [arXiv:0905.0688] [SPIRES].